09983-

Received
Washington State Supreme Court

SEP 2.5 2015
Ronald R. Carpenter
Clerk

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2015 SEP 23 PM 2: 16

STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPUTY

Court of Appeals No. 72834-2-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DR. ROBERT EMERICK, M.D,

Appellant/Cross Respondent,

ν.

CARDIAC STUDY CENTER, INC., P.S., a Washington Corporation,

Respondent/Cross Appellant

DR. EMERICK'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT

STUART C. MORGAN, WSBA #26368 Attorneys for Petitioner/Cross Respondent, Robert Emerick, M.D

Ledger Square Law, P.S. 710 Market Street Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 327-1900

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Dr. Robert Emerick ("Dr. Emerick"), the Appellant/Cross Respondent below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision for which review is sought is appended to this *Petition for Discretionary Review* as **Appendix A.**¹

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether non-competition agreements that bar physician-employees from practicing medicine violate the public policy of the State of Washington when: (a) noncompetition agreements are disfavored in Washington; (b) the American Medical Association has determined that such agreements compromise patient care; (c) there is an existing public policy for the protection of Washington citizens by the people under Article XX, Section 22 of the Washington Constitution, the Legislature and the Judiciary.
- 2. Whether noncompetition agreements that bar a physician employee from practicing medicine violate Article XX, Section 22 of the

¹ This is the second time this case has been heard by the Court of Appeals. In *Emerick I*, the trial court found the noncompetition agreement in this case unreasonable and therefore unenforceable, invalidated the agreement in its entirety and determined Dr. Emerick to be the substantially prevailing party and awarded him attorney's fees and costs. *Emerick v. Cardiac Study Center, Inc.* 170 Wn. App. 248, 286 P.3d 689 (Division II, 2012). CSC, Inc. appealed and Division II of the Court of Appeals reversed, holding that the trial court employed the incorrect legal test but also held that CSC, Inc. was not entitled to attorney's fees and costs because it failed to devote a section of its brief to the argument as required by the Rules of Appellate Procedure. <u>Id.</u>

Washington Constitution as an impermissible attempt by an employer to regulate the practice of medicine.

- 3. Whether a trial court's "blue pencil" of an unenforceable noncompetition covenant should result in also treating the employer as the "substantially prevailing party" for purposes of attorney's fees and costs. This is an issue of first impression in Washington.²
- 4. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's determination of the reformed temporal restriction when the original five year term of the agreement is unreasonable and has since expired; and no Washington case has ever held that an employee's operation of a competing business during a valid trial court order that has not been superseded should subsequently be counted against the former employee. There is no support for the theory of "assumption of the risk of appeal" when CSC, Inc. failed to supersede the trial court's declaratory relief in *Emerick I*. This also is an issue of first impression in Washington.
- 5. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in determining that CSC, Inc. is entitled to an award of attorney's fees and costs for work performed in the first appeal of *Emerick I* and whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's calculation of reasonable

² Over one third of the opinion of the Court of Appeals is devoted to the substantially prevailing party issue and the calculation of reasonable attorneys' fees and costs related thereto. Until the Appellate Court's decision in this matter, no Washington Court has held anyone to be a substantially prevailing party when a covenant is blue penciled by a trial court.

attorney's fees and costs appellant CSC, Inc. had approximately 15 timekeepers working on the matter.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dr. Emerick was terminated by CSC, Inc. at the end of September 2009, almost six years ago. CP 635-638. Under the Appellate Court's decision, he is still theoretically bound by the covenant in this case which specifically provided it would end after 60 full months (5 years) from the date of termination.

As an Interventional Cardiologist, Dr. Emerick performs percutaneous coronary interventions or revascularizations. There is no dispute that these procedures provide proven, life-saving services for emergent patients, such as heart attack patients, and improve the quality of life in the elective or non-urgent setting by reducing or eliminating angina (chest pain symptoms) and improving exercise tolerance or capacity. CP 635-638.

While these procedures drastically improve the quality of life for patients, they are not always sufficient to correct or reverse a patient's cardiovascular problems. As a result, follow-up care in the office is essential to achieving a durable result and good long-term clinical outcomes. CP 635-638.

When CSC, Inc. asked Dr. Emerick to become a shareholder, it presented him with a "Shareholder Employment Agreement" (hereinafter

"SEA") which had been previously prepared by CSC, Inc.. CP 1-22. The noncompetition covenant in the SEA provides that Dr. Emerick would not "directly or indirectly" practice cardiac medicine in Pierce County or Federal Way, Washington "in any manner which is directly competitive with any aspect of the business" of CSC, Inc. for 60 full months after termination. Id. Dr. Emerick has successfully persuaded two Pierce County trial courts to declare the covenant unreasonable. In *Emerick I*, the Pierce County trial court invalidate the entire covenant. In *Emerick II*, a different Pierce County trial court blue penciled the covenant as described in **Appendix A**.

Toward the end of his tenure with CSC, Inc., CSC, Inc. impeded Dr. Emerick's ability to serve his patients by attempting to reschedule patients with other CSC, Inc. physicians. Patients had to fight to see Dr. Emerick. CP 635-638 (*Emerick Decl.* ¶ 9.). Moreover, despite the covenant's specific proviso that it "shall not preclude a patient from selecting a provider of [his or her] choice," CSC, Inc. did, in fact, prohibit at least one known patient and also attempted to prevent other patients from choosing the doctor of their choice.³ CP 1-22. CSC, Inc. made significant efforts to divert patients aware from Dr. Emerick. CP 692-696.

Dr. Emerick, knowing that CSC, Inc. intended to terminate him was concerned about his patient's care and, prior to the date of actual

³ The last sentence in Paragraph 13 renders the entire paragraph void.

termination, filed suit to seek invalidation of the covenant. Between the time Dr. Emerick was terminated and the time the trial court in *Emerick* I⁴ invalidated the covenant in its entirety, Dr. Emerick did not engage in competitive practice of cardiac medicine.

CSC, Inc. appealed and never superseded the declaratory judgment portion of the trial court's decision or otherwise sought injunctive relief during the appeal. Relying on the trial court's unsuperseded decision, Dr. Emerick then found space in Gig Harbor and opened a concierge medical practice.

In *Emerick I*, Division Two of the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court and remanded the case for what Division Two believed should be a more correct application of the legal test of enforceability for covenants not to compete. Again, CSC, Inc. did not seek an injunction during the remand period until it filed a motion for summary judgment asking the trial court to enforce the noncompete as written in the SEA.

A different Pierce County trial court then also found the noncompetition covenant in the SEA unreasonable and therefore unenforceable. Instead of invalidating the covenant entirely, the trial court

⁴ This matter was ultimately heard by two trial court Judges. In *Emerick I*, Judge Frederick Fleming found the noncompetition agreement unenforceable and unreasonable and invalidated the entire agreement. CSC, Inc. appealed and on remand, Judge Gerald Costello also determined the noncompetition agreement to be unreasonable and unenforceable but "blue penciled" the agreement as referenced in *Emerick II*. These inconsistent decisions alone merit review by this Court in order to provide guidance to the citizens of the State of Washington and counsel as to how covenants between physicians will be interpreted.

"blue penciled" the agreement, reducing the geographic scope of by approximately 97% but, without precedent, increasing the temporal restriction period. Also without precedent, the trial court determined that CSC, Inc. was the substantially prevailing party because the trial court salvages a shred of the covenant. The Appellate Court affirmed and, in doing so, saddled Dr. Emerick with the additional legal fees and costs of CSC, Inc. in the appeal of *Emerick I* although the Appellate Court had specifically denied those fees in *Emerick I*. Dr. Emerick requests this Court accept discretionary review to address these issues of first impression and public policy in Washington.

V. ARGUMENT

Non-competition agreements are not upheld to bar all competition by a former employee. They are only upheld to bar *unfair* competition gathered as a result of the former employee's employment. *Copier Specialists, Inc. v. Gillen,* 76 Wn. App. 771, 774, 887 P.2d 919 (1995) (quoting *Wood v. May,* 73 Wn.2d 307, 310, 438 P.2d 587 (1968)). However, if a patient is truly entitled to have the physician of his or her choice, then one must ask how there can ever be any unfair competition among physicians. Washington Courts do not permit businesses to use non-competition agreements to stifle legitimate competition. *Labriola v. Pollard,* 152 Wn.2d 828, 100 P.3d 791 (2004) ("[n]oncompete agreements

designed to stabilize a company's current workforce through unreasonable restraints are similarly unenforceable." Madsen, J. concurring).

The trial courts in *Emerick I* and *Emerick II* and the Appellate Court below agree on one thing: the covenant in this case is unreasonable and unenforceable. However, *Emerick II*, creates new law in Washington by: (a) determining that the proponent of a legally invalid covenant is also the "substantially prevailing party"; and (b) increasing the temporal period to run well after termination of employment because the employee relied on a valid and un-superseded trial court order invalidating the covenant.

The Appellate Court's decision here unfortunately creates a chilling effect on all employees stuck under an unenforceable and illegal noncompetition covenant because it saddles them with the employer's attorney's fees and costs if the trial court decides to salvage a shred of the covenant through blue penciling. This decision stifles legitimate claims regarding unlawful covenants by future employees and incentivizes employers to defend illegal covenants. The Appellate Court's first-impression decision should be reviewed by this Court.

A. The Criteria of RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (b)(4) are met.

1. Noncompetition agreements between physicians involve the public health and involve issues of substantial public importance and are affected by Washington's Constitution, meriting discretionary review by this Court.

RCW 18.71.003(2) "The health and well-being of the people of this state are of paramount importance." RCW 18.71.003(2). As a result, noncompetition covenants among physicians involve issues of substantial public importance just by their present existence. In *Nguyen v. State*, *Dep't of Health Med. Quality Assurance Comm'n*, 144 Wn.2d 516, 29 P.3d 689 (2001), this Court analyzed Article XX, Section 2 of the Washington Constitution and held in part:

We have also noted the significance of the public's interest in the regulation of the medical profession: The daily practice of medicine concerns life and death consequences to members of the public.

<u>Id.</u>, at 705-706 (citing *In re Kindschi*, 52 Wn.2d 8, 319 P.2d 824 (1958)).

The people of Washington obviously have a compelling interest (i.e., a "substantial public interest") in ensuring that doctors of their choice are not barred from providing service to them due to a covenant not to compete. The Appellate Court's decision that the covenant in this case, as blue-penciled, eliminates that substantial public interest, ignores the argument that these agreements, in general, harm the public. This is the

only case where such a covenant has been blue-penciled. This case presents the issue of what interest is more important -- competition between physicians or a sick person's right to receive healthcare from the physician of her choice.

Even newspapers have been writing about the impact of these agreements on the public. On July 30, 2012, the Tacoma News Tribune ran a front page article under the headline, "DOCTOR SHORTAGE LIKELY TO WORSEN". Appendix B (emphasis added). Recently, the Puget Sound Business Journal ran a similar article, but specifically about the effects of non-competition agreements on the public. Appendix C. In a Motion to Publish *Emerick I*, State Supreme Court Justice Talmadge (Ret.) argued "[t]his is an important public policy issue in Washington. Talmadge is counsel of record in two cases in Division I that deal with the enforceability of such agreements." Id. (Motion to Publish at 1) (emphasis added). Justice Talmadge (Ret.) continues "[i]nsofar as issues pertaining to noncompete agreements are not often the subject of published opinions, the Court's opinion is of considerable interest to the bar and the general public." Id., at 3.

This Court has not yet addressed the issue of whether noncompetition agreements between physicians violate the public's interest in medical care. Numerous other courts, however, have recognized that unique <u>public policy</u> concerns are posed by non-

competition agreements in the medical context so Washington would be far from alone in addressing this issue. See, e.g., Valley Med. Specialists v. Farber, 194 Ariz. 363, 368, 982 P.2d 1277, 1282 (1999) ("By restricting a physician's practice of medicine, this covenant involves strong public policy implications and must be closely scrutinized."); see also Intermountain Eye and Laser Centers, P.L.C. v. Miller, 142 Idaho 218, 229, 127 P.3d 121, 132 (2005) ("doctor-patient relationships are different from most other relationships between service providers and their customers. While the public has a strong interest in freedom of contract, that interest must be balanced against the public interest in upholding the highly personal relationship between the physician and his or her patient."); Ohio Urology, Inc. v. Poll, 72 Ohio App.3d 446, 453, 594 N.E.2d 1027, 1032 (1991) ("These covenants should be strictly construed in favor of professional mobility and access to medical care and facilities."). One legal commentator appropriately summed the issue:

The physician-patient relationship is unlike most other business relationships Because physicians have an ethical duty to put the welfare of their patients above their own, a noncompetition clause undermines those ethics when it places the employers' financial interests above patients' interests. Thus, physician restrictive covenants should be viewed in a very different manner from covenants existing in other business relationships. The potential harm to the patient should play a more active role in determining whether or not to enforce a restrictive covenant.

S. Elizabeth Wilborn Malloy, *Physician Restrictive Covenants:*The Neglect of Incumbent Patient Interests, 41 Wake Forest L.

Rev. 189, 208 (Spring 2006) (footnote omitted) (emphasis added).

The physician-patient relationship should control this issue, not the physician-physician business relationship. Washington law so highly regards the physician-patient relationship that it makes all communications between them privileged. RCW 5.60.060(4); ER 501(j). Additionally, lawyers are prohibited from entering into non-compete agreements because doing so might limit clients' freedom of choice. Any limitation on access to a physician that a patient trusts to save his or her life, to cut into his or her chest, to hold his or her heart is so blatantly personal as to violate public policy. *Alexander & Alexander v. Wohlman*, 19 Wn. App. 670, 687, 578 P.2d 530 (1978). Doctors are not widgets and limiting access to their life-saving care is one of the clearest examples of injuring the public that one could think of in this context. This Court should hold that CSC's Non-Compete is invalid under the public policy of Washington.

Other courts agree. *Mercho-Roushdi-Shoemaker-Dilley-Thoraco-Vascular v. Blatchford*, 900 N.E.2d 786 (Ind. Ct. App. 2009). A similar result occurred in Arkansas. *Mercy Health Sys. of Nw. Ark., Inc. v. Bicak*, 2011 Ark. App. 341, 383 S.W.3d 869 (2011); *New Castle Orthopedic Assoc. v. Burns*, 481 Pa. 460, 392 A.2d 1383, 1387 (1978); *Odess v.*

Taylor, 282 Ala. 389, 211 So.2d 805, 810 (1968); Iredell Digestive Disease Clinic, P.A. v. Petrozza, 92 N.C.App. 21, 373 S.E.2d 449, 455 (N.C. App. 1988) ("The doctor-patient relationship is a personal one and we are extremely hesitant to deny the patient-consumer any choice whatsoever"); Duffner v. Alberty, 718 S.W.2d 111, 113-14 (Ark. Ct. App. 1986); Dick v. Geist, 107 Idaho 931, 693 P.2d 1133, 1137 (Idaho App. 1985); Lloyd Damsey, M.D., P.A. v. Mankowitz, 339 So.2d 282, 283 (Fla. App. 1976).

The Appellate Court's opinion also goes directly against the AMA Opinion 9.02 which states in part:

Covenants-not-to-compete restrict competition, disrupt continuity of care, and potentially deprive the public of medical services. The Council on Ethical and Judicial Affairs discourages any agreement which restricts the right of a physician to practice medicine for a specified period of time or in a specified area upon termination of an employment, partnership, or corporate agreement. Restrictive covenants are unethical if they are excessive in geographic scope or duration in the circumstances presented, or if they fail to make reasonable accommodation of patients' choice of physician. (VI, VII)

AMA Code of Medical Ethics, Council on Ethical and Judicial Affairs Op. E-9.02 (Issued prior to April 1977; Updated June 1994 and June 1998) (emphasis added).⁵

⁵ CP 692-698 (*Morgan Decl.* Exhibit E) (also available online at http://www.ama-assn.org/ama/pub/physician-resources/medical-ethics/code-medical-ethics/opinion902.shtml (last accessed Sept. 17, 2009)).

The public is placed at risk by removing any skilled provider of critical care services from the community because CSC, Inc. or other employers of physicians care more about the bottom line profit than they do about the health care of our residents. Recall that the Appellate Court in this case only made its decision as to the covenant in this case, not covenants in general. Our courts have not yet addressed whether such covenants violate <u>public policy</u> when they bar skilled physicians from providing critical care to patients in the community.

2. This covenant and any other noncompetition covenant bars a physician from practicing medicine violates Article XX, Section 2 of the Washington Constitution

Article XX, Section 2 of the Washington Constitution states "[t]he legislature shall enact laws to regulate the practice of medicine and surgery." Any enforcement of a non-competition agreement, even if blue-penciled, must necessarily constitute the regulation of the practice of medicine and surgery – something the people of the State of Washington only delegated the power to the Legislature to do. The net result is that noncompetition agreements for physician-employees constitute a regulation of the practice of medicine and surgery by the employer, not by the Legislature. Private entities are overstepping the Constitutional Protections afforded to the citizenry by the Washington Constitution. Black's law dictionary defines the term "regulate" as, in part, "[t]o fix, establish, or control . . . to limit and prohibit . . . and to control that which

already exists." Black's Law Dictionary, Sixth Ed., at 1285-86 (1990). In sum, noncompetition agreements for physician-employees are an unconstitutional attempt to regulate the practice of medicine and surgery by the employer and deny what this Court has already found to be a constitutionally protected interest of the public in the regulation of health care practitioners.

3. Emerick II merits discretionary review because no Washington case has ever held that an employer is the "substantially prevailing party" and entitled to its attorney's fees and costs incurred in defending an illegal covenant.

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