RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 21, 2015, 2:02 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

Court of Appeals Case No. 72834-2-I Supreme Court Case No. 922<u>83-7</u>

ECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT EMERICK

Appellant,

v.

CARDIAC STUDY CENTER, INC., a Washington corporation,

Respondent.

CARDIAC STUDY CENTER, INC.'S ANSWER TO EMERICK'S PETITION FOR REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL LLP Attorneys for Petitioner Stephanie Bloomfield, WSBA No. 24251 sbloomfield@gth-law.com Valarie Zeeck, WSBA No. 24998 vzeeck@gth-law.com

1201 Pacific Avenue, Suite 2100 P.O. Box 1157 Tacoma, WA 98401-1157 (253) 620-6500

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

Digestive Disease Clinic, PA v. Petrozza, 373 S.E.2d 449 (N.C. 1988), the noncompetition provision was not enforced on a public policy basis, because enforcement would have created a monopoly for the one remaining gastroenterologist in the restricted area, and twenty-one area physicians testified that one gastroenterologist would not be enough. In Dick v. Geist, 693 P.2d 1133 (Id. 1985), the covenant was not enforced because the two pediatricians against whom enforcement was sought provided 90% of the neonatal critical care in the restricted area. Neither case bears any resemblance to Emerick's where there is an oversupply, rather than a shortage, of cardiologists in Pierce County.

2. AMA Opinion 9.02 Does Not Change Washington Law.

Emerick relies heavily on American Medical Association Opinion 9.02. Most jurisdictions to address the issue since this AMA Opinion was adopted have continued to enforce noncompetition provisions among physicians. Perhaps most notably, the Illinois Supreme Court, in *Mohanty* v. St. John Heart Clinic, S.C., 866 N.E.2d 85 (Ill. 2006) described the relationship between the Opinion and Illinois law (which is very similar to Washington's) in this way:⁹

⁹ See also, e.g., Ravmundo v. Hammond Clinic Ass'n, 449 N.E.2d 276, 280–81 (Ind. 1983); Rash v. Toccoa Clinic Med. Assocs., 320 S.E.2d 170 (Ga. 1984); Gant v. Hvgeia Facilities Found. Inc., 384 S.E.2d 842 (W.Va. 1989); Weber v. Tillman, 913 P.2d 84 (Kan. 1996); Duneland Emergency. Physician's Med. Group, P.C. v. Brunk, 723 N.E.2d 963 (Ind. Ct. App. 2000).

AMA Opinion 9.02, while informative, is not the equivalent of an Illinois statute or rule of professional conduct and, for that reason, does not provide a clear expression of the public policy of this state. Thus, AMA Opinion 9.02 cannot dictate the manner in which restrictive covenants should be construed in Illinois. That having been said, we point out that Opinion 9.02 does not prohibit, but merely discourages, restrictive covenants in medical employment contracts. Furthermore, the AMA's position on restrictive covenants, as set forth in Opinion 9.02, is commensurate with the manner in which restrictive covenants in physician employment contracts are treated in this state. Historically, covenants restricting the performance of medical professional services have been held valid and enforceable in Illinois as long as their durational and geographic scope are not unreasonable, taking consideration the effect on the public and any undue hardship on the parties to the agreement. Cockerill v. Wilson, 51 Ill.2d 179, 183-84, 281 N.E.2d 648 (1972); Canfield v. Spear, 44 Ill.2d 49, 254 N.E.2d 433 (1969). Thus, the AMA provision is no different from the common law requirements of this state. SeeIdbeis v. Wichita Surgical Specialists, P.A., 279 Kan. 755, 112 P.3d 81 (2005) (AMA requirements are no different from common law requirement that restrictive covenants be reasonable and not adverse to the public welfare).

This balancing of interests and requirement that the restrictions be "reasonable" are precisely the same concerns currently addressed by the analysis required under Washington's existing law. Moreover, the AMA could prohibit noncompetition agreements if it chose to, but it has not.

B. There Is No Constitutional Issue Because Noncompetes Are Not "Regulation of the Practice of Medicine."

Emerick asserts that review is needed pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4), because this case presents a significant constitutional question. He theorizes that noncompetition agreements among physicians violate

Article XX, Section 2 of the Washington Constitution, because only the Legislature can regulate the practice of medicine. If doctors agree not to compete with one another, his theory continues, that agreement somehow constitutes an "employer" regulating the practice of medicine. Petition at 13-14.

Then, in a bizarre twist to his argument opposing "employers" or anyone other than the Legislature "regulating medicine," Emerick asks this Court to inject itself into the Legislature's territory, and "regulate medicine" by establishing a "flat-out bar" on physician noncompetes. Emerick cites no authority for this proposal, and none exists. There is no Washington case law cited, nor is there any authority cited from any of the far-flung jurisdictions Emerick relies on in other sections of his Petition.

This Court may of course reject this renewed argument for its lack of precedential support, but also because it was never advanced in the trial court. See RAP 2.5(a); Choate v. Choate, 143 Wn. App. 235, 245, 177 P.3d 175 (2008). Under RAP 2.5(a)(3), Emerick could obtain review of an issue raised for the first time on appeal if he is able to show that it constitutes "a 'manifest error affecting a constitutional right." Id. However, because RAP 2.5(a)(3) is "an exception to the general rule that parties cannot raise new arguments on appeal, [the Court will] construe the exception narrowly by requiring the asserted error to be (1) manifest and

(2) 'truly of constitutional magnitude." State v. WWJ Corp., 138 Wn.2d 595, 602, 980 P.2d 1257 (1999). Here, Emerick cannot show that the alleged error was "manifest" because he cannot show any likelihood of succeeding in his argument that physicians' noncompetes "are an unconstitutional attempt to regulate the practice of medicine and surgery by the employer." See Petition at 14, and see State v. WWJ Corp, 138 Wn.2d at 603 ("The policy behind RAP 2.5(a)(3) is simply this: Appellate courts will not waste their judicial resources to render definitive rulings on newly raised constitutional claims when those claims have no chance of succeeding on the merits.")

Indeed, the clear import of the *Ashley* decisions is that private agreements between physicians are binding legal contracts that may be enforced through the courts. *Ashley v. Lance*, 75 Wn.2d 471, 451 P.2d 916 (1969); *Ashley v. Lance*, 80 Wn.2d 274, 493 P.2d 1242 (1972). These private contracts do not encroach on the Legislature's ability to set standards of qualifications for medical practitioners or otherwise regulate the practice of medicine.

Emerick was the party who originally brought this action in the trial court and proposed application of existing Washington law to the restrictive covenant in this case. CP 1-22; 1236-39. As the party inviting the trial court to apply what Emerick now claims is a constitutionally

prohibited legal analysis, Emerick is not entitled to assert this alleged constitutional violation as a basis for relief. *See, e.g., City of Seattle v. Patu*, 147 Wn.2d 717, 720, 58 P.3d 273 (2002).

C. Washington Law Is Clear: Cardiac Obtained Substantial Injunctive Relief and Was the Substantially Prevailing Party.

Under Washington law, a prevailing party is "one who receives an affirmative judgment in his or her favor." *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d 612, 633, 934 P.2d 669 (1997); *see also Pipekorn v. Adams*, 102 Wn. App. 673, 686–87, 10 P.3d 428 (2000) (a party who is successful in obtaining injunctive relief was substantially prevailing party even when the court declined the same party's request for damages).

The trial court correctly determined that Cardiac was the substantially prevailing party in this action after Cardiac was awarded affirmative relief and Emerick was denied all forms of relief he sought. Washington law provided the trial court with clear guidance to determine which party "substantially prevailed" for the purposes of awarding prevailing party attorneys' fees under a contract, even in a scenario where only partial relief was obtained. *See, e.g., Pipekorn*, 102 Wn. App. at 686–87; *Silverdale Hotel Assocs. v. Lomas & Nettleton Co.*, 36 Wn. App. 762, 773–74, 677 P.2d 773 (1984). In rejecting Emerick's claim that there is no Washington authority to guide the Court, Division I wrote in *Emerick II*:

Specifically he contends that there is no reported Washington decision addressing whether there is a prevailing party for purposes of attorney fees when the trial court modifies a noncompete covenant. But, there is analogous case law that states that simply because one party is not afforded as much relief as is originally sought, does not mean that the opposing party has obtained relief. Silverdale Hotel Associates v. The Lomas & Nettleton Co., 36 Wn. App. 762, 774, 677 P.2d 773 (1984). In Silverdale, Lomas & Nettleton argued that neither party prevailed in the case, because both parties received relief. See Id. But, the court rejected that argument stating that just because the damages against Lomas & Nettleton were not as high as Silverdale originally prayed for, does not mean that Lomas & Nettleton received relief. Id. at 774, 677 P.2d 773. Similarly, here, just because certain terms of the noncompete were modified, does not mean that Emerick received relief when the covenant was still substantially enforced.

Here, the trial court enforced the original agreement to the extent it was reasonable and properly concluded Cardiac had substantially prevailed, entitling it to an award of attorneys' fees. This was not a close call.

D. The Trial Court Enforced a Reduced Temporal Restriction It Found Reasonable Upon Weighing the Interests.

Emerick ignores the fact that the trial court carefully evaluated and reduced the duration of his noncompete from five years to four years which it determined as a matter of law to be reasonable. He claims that because some courts have refused to enforce a five year noncompete, it was error for the trial court to find four years was reasonable. However, each decision involves a unique balancing based on the nature of the interests involved in each case. Here, the trial court's decision to issue an injunction enforcing the remaining 28 months of Emerick's noncompete

was proper, and took into account the limited geographic scope in imposing a four-year time period. As Division I stated in *Emerick II*:

Emerick argues that as a matter of law, the temporal restraint is unreasonable, because no Washington appellate court has ever found that a four or five year restrictive covenant is reasonable. He cites to *Perry* in which the court stated, "It may be that a clause forbidding [accounting services] for a 5-year period is unreasonable as a matter of law." 109 Wn.2d at 703–04. But, the *Perry* court did not hold that a five year noncompete is unreasonable as a matter of law. And, the noncompete at issue in *Perry* did not have geographical limitations — distinguishing it from the temporally and geographically limited noncompete at issue here.

The trial court's injunction was consistent with Washington law and with decisions from other jurisdictions facing situations where a party has breached a noncompete agreement during the pendency of the litigation. ¹⁰ Emerick relies on *Alexander & Alexander v. Wohlman*, which is distinguishable because it involved a scenario where the term of the original noncompete had already expired and the court found that money damages were adequate compensation. 19 Wn. App. 670, 688 (1978) (two

¹⁰ See, e.g., Thermatool Corp. v. Borzym, 575 N.W.2d 334, 337 (Mich. App. 1998) ("under appropriate circumstances, an agreement not to compete can be extended beyond its stated expiration date as a remedy for breach of the agreement."); Rogers v. Runfola & Assoc., Inc., 565 N.E.2d 540, 544 (Ohio 1991) (court reporter subject to a noncompete started a competing firm, obtained an order from the trial court invalidating the noncompete which the employer reversed on appeal; appropriate remedy an injunction running from the date of the competing business shut down to the full term of the noncompete); Roanoake Eng'g Sales v. Rosenbaum, 290 S.E.2d 882, 886 (Va. 1982) (employee who continued to compete during the years the case was on appeal was ultimately restrained prospectively from the date on which the employer prevailed).

year restriction was reasonable but monetary relief requested by plaintiff was an adequate remedy so no injunction was necessary).

Emerick's remaining authorities are equally unpersuasive as Division I noted:

Emerick's reliance on National School Studios, Inc. v. Superior School Photo Service, Inc., 40 Wn.2d 263, 242 P.2d 756 (1952) and Economics Laboratory, Inc. v. Donnolo, 612 F.2d 405 (9th Cir. 1979) is similarly misplaced. In *National Schools*, the trial court declined to order injunctive relief. 40 Wn.2d at 265, 242 P.2d 756. The Washington Supreme Court found that the question was moot, because no judgment it entered for injunctive relief could have become effective prior to the expiration of the restrictive covenant. *Id.* at 270, 242 P.2d 756. Here, although the original restrictive period has now elapsed, we are not in a position where we need to order injunctive relief — the trial court has already done so. And, it did so prior to the expiration of the original restrictive period. In *Economics* Laboratory, the Ninth Circuit concluded that the district court should have denied a request for an injunction that was first made after the restrictive period had elapsed. 612 F.2d at 408. Again, in Emerick's case, the trial court ordered injunctive relief during the original restrictive period.

Cardiac requested injunctive relief from the outset. Cardiac never sought monetary relief, because the only meaningful relief was injunctive relief stopping Emerick from competing. Emerick acknowledged as much when he signed the noncompete. CP 653. The trial court correctly extended the period to provide Cardiac the benefit of its bargain.

E. The Court of Appeals Properly Awarded Cardiac Its Earlier Appellate Fees Because It First Prevailed on Remand When It Obtained Summary Judgment Ordering Injunctive Relief.

After the trial court determined that Cardiac was the prevailing party in this action, Emerick argued that Cardiac was not entitled to recover its prevailing party attorney's fees for work done on the *Emerick I* appeal, because Cardiac had failed to devote a section of its appellate brief to fees. CP 470-71. This argument, and the decision of the trial court based on this argument, is legally flawed.

Washington case law supports an award of prevailing party attorney's fees under RAP 18.1 only where the party requesting those fees is the prevailing party in the underlying action and can demonstrate a basis for the recovery of fees for work performed during a successful appeal. See, e.g., Belfor USA Group, Inc. v. Thiel, 160 Wn.2d 669, 671, 160 P.3d 39 (2007) (appellate court affirmed order compelling arbitration, but "Belfor is not yet a 'prevailing party' for purposes of the contract's attorney fees provision"); Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC, 167 Wn.2d 781, 817-18, 225 P.3d 213 (2009) (neither party entitled to fees because the appellate court's "decision is not determinative of the prevailing party with regard to the underlying litigation.").

Here, Division I reversed the trial court's denial of Cardiac's request for fees for the appellate work in *Emerick I*, because only after

returning to the trial court and prevailing on summary judgment did Cardiac become entitled to recover its reasonable attorney's fees under RCW 4.84.330 and the Agreement, which provided that these included fees incurred in "any suit or action for any type of relief ... including any appeal thereof, arising out of this Agreement." CP at 21.

To avoid this result, Emerick argues that that Cardiac was required to make a premature request for prevailing party attorneys' fees to the Court of Appeals under RAP 18.1 in its earlier appeal, and that Cardiac is forever barred from recovering any fees that would have been included in that baseless request once it prevailed. This argument is illogical and not supported by legal authority. Cardiac was not yet the "prevailing party" in this action when it was before Division II, and only after it returned to the trial court and obtained affirmative relief did Cardiac become the final prevailing party entitled to recover all reasonable attorneys' fees under the Agreement, including the fees incurred for work done on appeal. The trial court erred as a matter of law when it determined that Cardiac had waived the right to that portion of its prevailing party attorney's for work performed on appeal, and this decision should be reversed.

IV. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Emerick has not shown any of the grounds for Discretionary Review under RAP 13.4. Therefore, Cardiac asks this Court to deny

Emerick's Petition for Discretionary Review

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 21st day of October, 2015.

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL, LLP Attorneys for Respondent Cardiac Study Center, Inc.

Bv:

Stephanie Bloomfield, WSBA 24251 Valarie S. Zeeck, WSBA No. 24998 **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

I hereby certify, under penalty of perjury, that on the 21st day of

October, 2015, I arranged for a copy of the foregoing document to be

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